#### FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 6/17/2024 9:48 AM No. 57814-0-II

#### FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/17/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case #: 1031807

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

J.S., an individual,

Appellant,

and

G.M., an individual,

Plaintiff,

v.

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

The Kiwanis entities ("Kiwanis") seek review by this Court of the published Court of Appeals opinion terminating review set forth in Part B.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division II of the Court of Appeals filed an unpublished opinion reversing the trial court's dismissal of J.S.'s claims against Kiwanis for lack of evidence, after concluding that the case did not merit oral argument. A copy of the opinion is in the Appendix.

J.S. moved to publish the opinion, contending that publication under the criteria in RAP  $12.3(e)^1$  was critical

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> RAP 12.3(e) provides that publication is governed by the following criteria:

<sup>(1)</sup> Whether the decision determines an unsettled or new question of law or constitutional principle; (2) Whether the decision modifies, clarifies or reverses an established principle of law; (3) Whether a decision is of general public interest or importance

because litigants, including the State:

are regularly involved in tort lawsuits arising from decades-old sexual abuse at group homes. As the record in this case and others demonstrates, the State has destroyed or lost decades worth of placement records or maintained incomplete or inaccurate records. As a result, multiple trial courts continue to face the same issue resolved by this Court: whether a plaintiff's sworn testimony that they resided at a particular group home creates a question of fact on that issue and, thus, whether the facility's operator owed them protective duties.

Mot. to publish at 1.

J.S. argued that the issue was recurring and Division II's decision would offer guidance in all such recurring cases. *Id.* at 1-2, 7-8. J.S. contended that this recurring issue was consequential, given the statute of limitations for childhood sexual assault victims, RCW 4.16.340. *Id.* at 2-8; reply on mot.

or (4) Whether a case is in conflict with a prior opinion of the Court of Appeals.

*See also*, RCW 2.06.040; *State v. Fitzpatrick*, 5 Wn. App. 661, 664, 491 P.2d 262 (1971), *review denied*, 80 Wn.2d 1003 (1972). A publication decision implicates RAP 13.4(b)(4) as to review by this Court.

to publish at 3. J.S. asserted that the issues in the case will "affect many more litigants than J.S. and the trial courts dealing with it – making it of public interest and importance to similarly-situated litigants and trial courts." Reply on mot. to publish at 5. J.S. argued that a legal issue – duty – was at stake. *Id.* J.S. insisted that the case would have significant effect on other OK Boys Ranch cases. *Id.* at 8-9.

Division II agreed with J.S. that the criteria of RAP 12.3(e) were met and entered an order directing publication of its opinion on May 21, 2024. A copy of J.S.'s briefing on his motion to publish and Division II's order is attached as an appendix to this petition.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Where a plaintiff bore the burden of proof on the elements of negligence, but failed to produce admissible evidence that he was actually present at a group home where he was allegedly abused, was the trial court correct in granting a summary judgment of dismissal where the plaintiff fully relied on government records as to his placement and those records specifically failed to reflect that he was placed at the group home? 2. Did Division II err in reversing the trial court and in adopting, according to respondent, a new principle on summary judgment that if government records might, but do not expressly show that a fact is true, summary judgment must be denied?

#### D. INTRODUCTION

J.S. sued a group of Kiwanis entities ("Kiwanis"), claiming he was abused as a foster child when the State of Washington allegedly placed him at the OK Boys Ranch Group Home ("OKBR") some thirty years ago. He *admitted* that he lacked personal knowledge regarding his time at OKBR, and he admittedly relied on Washington State Department of Social and Health Services ("DSHS") records to confirm when he was placed there. Those records showed that while he was placed at many group and foster homes, he was *never* placed at OKBR. J.S. came forward with no admissible evidence based on personal knowledge establishing that he ever lived at OKBR.

Because Kiwanis does not owe a duty of care to a child never placed in its care, the trial court properly granted summary judgment, following the civil rules which require admissible evidence supported by personal knowledge to defeat summary judgment. Long-established precedent holds that conclusory, argumentative assertions merely disputing facts is insufficient to defeat summary judgment.

Review is merited in this case precisely for the reasons set forth in J.S.'s motion to publish at Division II, where J.S. argued that Division II's opinion establishes new principles of law that will affect trial courts across the state. The criteria for publication in RAP 12.3(e) make clear that this is a case meriting this Court's attention under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

# E. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND ARGUMENTS MADE BELOW

Division II's published opinion discusses the facts and procedures in this case, op. at 2-6, but it glossed over the crucial fact that J.S. never produced admissible evidence that he was ever placed at OKBR. Without this proof, Kiwanis owed no duty of care to J.S. as a matter of law.

J.S. was placed in foster care shortly after birth in 1974,

and he resided in many placements as a child, including several group homes. CP 170. For this lawsuit, he alleges he suffered compensable injuries while placed at OKBR at some time in the early or mid-1980s that he cannot remember, but records show *he was never placed at OKBR*. CP 160-61, 166.<sup>2</sup>

The record here is clear that J.S. failed to prove that he was ever at OKBR. J.S.'s second amended complaint contains no basis for finding Kiwanis breached a duty that caused J.S.'s damages because there is no admissible evidence that he was ever at OKBR – other than his unsupported testimony. He admitted his lack of personal knowledge, and that he would rely on records which show he is mistaken in his belief that he resided at OKBR. He stated in his tort form claim that "*the dates [of OKBR residency]* will be confirmed *or refined with the production of DSHS records.*" CP 112 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Children's services formerly provided by DSHS are now administered through the Department of Children, Youth, and Families.

Likewise, his interrogatory answer states: "Plaintiff does not recall the exact dates he was placed at O.K. Boys' Ranch and *defers to his State and O.K. Boys' Ranch records.*" CP 129 (emphasis added).

His deference to the undisputed evidence, *i.e.*, the State and OKBR's records, confirms that J.S. never resided at OKBR. Thus, his claims fail as a matter of law. "The existence and scope of a duty is a threshold inquiry in a negligence action," typically "a question of law." Mathieu v. Dep't of Child, Youth, & Families, 23 Wn. App. 2d 777, 787, 520 P.3d 1033 (2022), review denied sub nom. Mathieu v. Washington Dep't of Child, Youth & Families, 1 Wn.3d 1004 (2023) (quotation omitted). Kiwanis owed no duty, nor could it breach any duty owed, to a child never in its care. Similarly, there is no legal basis to hold Kiwanis liable for any abuse J.S. may have suffered at other group homes where he resided. The complaint contained no basis for such a conclusion. Given that J.S.'s complaint was entirely predicated on alleged abuse at OKBR, but the undisputed records show that J.S. was never placed at OKBR, the trial court properly dismissed J.S.'s claims with prejudice.

A factor not addressed by Division II's published opinion is that any statements made by J.S. about his placement were ultimately inadmissible. J.S. lacked personal knowledge sufficient to sustain his testimony defeat summary judgment. CR 56(e) requires that the non-moving party defend against summary judgment with admissible evidence, based on personal knowledge, alleging specific facts, creating a genuine issue of material fact.<sup>3</sup> When a case rests on the plaintiff's testimony alone, a plaintiff cannot show a genuine issue of fact, sufficient

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The United States Supreme Court has likewise explained that when the moving party has carried its burden to show that no genuine issue of material fact exists, "its opponent must do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts." *Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Corp.*, 475 U.S. 574, 586, 106 S. Ct. 1348, 89 L. Ed. 2d 538 (1986). Quoting the federal civil rule which contains the same requirement as our CR 56(e), the Supreme Court stated, "the nonmoving party must come forward with 'specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Id.* at 587.

to preclude summary judgment if that plaintiff shows a "lack of personal knowledge concerning" a material issue. *Loss v. DeBord*, 67 Wn.2d 318, 321, 407 P.2d 421 (1965); *see also*, ER 602 ("A witness may not testify to a matter unless evidence is introduced sufficient to support a finding that the witness has personal knowledge of the matter.").

This Court's *Loss* decision concerned the existence of double yellow lines on a roadway where an accident occurred. If the lines were present, plaintiff would have contributed to her accident as a matter of law by stopping in the roadway to illegally turn left across them.<sup>4</sup> Official records showed that the lines had been redrawn in that area a year prior, which witnesses corroborated. 67 Wn.2d at 320. The plaintiff initially could not remember whether double yellow lines were present, but later she submitted a statement to contradict the record claiming that they were "obliterated and imperceptible" based on a picture

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> At the time *Loss* was decided, contributory negligence barred tort recovery in Washington.

allegedly taken months after the accident. Id. at 320.

This Court determined that summary judgment was appropriate, despite the changed statement because the plaintiff did not have "personal knowledge" sufficient to "show affirmatively that [she was] competent to testify in the matters stated therein." *Id.* at 320. Thus, her changed statement did not create a genuine issue of material fact sufficient to contradict the record showing the double yellow lines existed. *Id. See also, e.g., Farias v. Port Blakely Co.*, 22 Wn. App. 2d 467, 493, 512 P.3d 574 (2022) (injured worker did not have personal knowledge to testify that owner also acted as general contractor at jobsite and was thus the proper party to sue for unsafe working conditions).

Here, too, J.S. did not have personal knowledge competent to affirmatively create an issue of material fact. He expressly relied on DSHS records to show when he was placed at OKBR. They showed the opposite; he was *never* placed there. He could not recall basic facts about OKBR including what it looked like, the names of any staff or roommates, and other basic facts about his alleged time at OKBR. He resided in many placements and group homes, and may have suffered abuse in those homes, but he could not demonstrate specific facts with respect to OKBR, merely speculating that DSHS records would confirm his placement there, which they did not.

But it is the documentary evidence that is crucial here, particularly where J.S. admitted that he could not recall where he had resided. J.S. could not establish a time he was placed at OKBR, and he admitted he would rely on these placement records which showed he was never placed at OKBR. CP 112, 129. J.S.'s tort claim form stated that "Claimant does not recall when he was placed at OKBR but believes he was about 8 or 9 years old. *It is anticipated the dates will be confirmed or refined with the production of DSHS records.*" CP 112 (emphasis added). J.S. was born on December 6, 1974, thus his belief would place his alleged residency at OKBR in 1983 or 1984, a time during which his placements were documented *elsewhere*. CP 160-61.

DSHS produced "Child Placement and Legal History" documents, showing where J.S. resided from June 1981 through November 1988. CP 160-61. *He did not reside at OKBR during that time. See* Appendix (timeline of J.S.'s residences from DSHS records). Along with these placement records, DSHS also certified in sworn discovery answers that "there are no records that he was ever a resident at OKBR." CP 166.

J.S.'s second amended complaint alleged that he resided at OKBR "in or about 1982, and he remained there until approximately 1984." CP 122. But when answering written discovery, J.S. changed his story and again deferred to DSHS's placement records: "Plaintiff does not recall the exact dates he was placed at O.K. Boys' Ranch and *defers to his State and O.K. Boys' Ranch records*. Plaintiff believes he resided at OKBR between 1989-1993." CP 129 (emphasis added).

J.S.'s *guess* contradicted his prior sworn testimony; J.S. testified in a deposition for his separate lawsuit against the Secret

Harbor Group Home that he could not recall when he resided at OKBR, then testified that he lived at OKBR before he began living at Secret Harbor in July 1987. CP 134. J.S.'s Secret Harbor admission summary makes no mention of his having stayed at OKBR. CP 170-71. He also testified that he was at OKBR before he moved to the Deschutes Group Home in December 1986. CP 139. Finally, he testified that he resided at OKBR before he was a teenager. CP 154-56. J.S. turned 13 on December 6, 1987.

Although Division II states that J.S. "consistently" testified that he remembers residing at OKBR, op. at 8, his own testimony and all pertinent records contradict that testimony. In October 2022, J.S. candidly admitted that the dates of his OKBR residence as alleged in his complaint were *a complete fabrication* – "those are not factual dates," "that's what I came up with." CP 146-48. He did not remember attending OKBR at any particular time: "I ended up at the OK Boys Ranch. Exactly when or how, I don't recall." "[A]s far as specific times, dates and ages and

things like that, my mind doesn't remember things like that." CP 212.

The only evidence remotely connecting J.S. to OKBR is (1) an August 11, 1986 letter from OKBR's director to DSHS, stating that "we will be accepting [J.S.] into our agency for residential care at our next available opening in approximately two weeks;" CP 173; and (2) an August 18, 1986 letter from an OKBR residential caseworker to DSHS stating that OKBR is seeking justification to request "funding of a 40-hour/week staff member for [J.S.]," CP 175. But the Children's Orthopedic Hospital and Medical Center's discharge summary, dated December 1, 1986 (which also contains J.S.'s placement history consistent with DSHS's "Child Placement and Legal History") states that "[J.S.] was to have been placed at Okay Boy's Ranch in Olympia, but *placement has been suspended due to question* of psychosis." CP 178 (emphasis added). The record contains no other document linking J.S. to OKBR.

Ultimately, J.S. relied exclusively below on DSHS records

regarding his alleged placement at OKBR. CP 129. Long after his lawsuit was filed, in his summary judgment briefing, J.S. pointed to a 12-day gap in DSHS's placement history from December 18, 1986, to December 30, 1986, when he was placed in the Deschutes Center Group Home, claiming this must be when he was placed at OKBR. CP 256; RP 17; resp't br. at 9-10. Division II seized upon this gap to discern the existence of a fact issue, op. at 9, but in doing so, that court ignored the fact that this testimony contradicted J.S.'s own prior testimony that he went directly from foster care to the Deschutes Center Group Home, negating the gap in time and likely showing a scrivener's error in DSHS's records around Christmas of that year. CP 196.<sup>5</sup> Discharge summaries signed in early 1987 also did not mention any time for J.S. at OKBR, nor did any other record. CP 234-38.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As Kiwanis explained, J.S. might have mixed up the name of a foster placement, but he *consistently* testified that he went from foster care directly to Deschutes, meaning there was no time that he could have lived at OKBR based on DSHS's records. CP 257-58.

J.S. has also argued that his story is corroborated by the fact that records show he was released into the custody of Bud O'Hair, a DSHS case manager, and O'Hair apparently placed some kids at OKBR. Resp't br. at 6. But *no record* shows that O'Hair placed J.S. at OKBR; in fact, there is no record of him placing any child at OKBR prior to 1990, several years after J.S. claims he was abused at OKBR. CP 242-46.

Aside from the placement records, admission summaries describe his history running away and being "very familiar with the Skagit Valley, Everett and Seattle area." CP 171. This reflects DSHS's "Child Placement and Legal History," which shows most of his placements in the Everett/Arlington area. CP 160-61. Conversely, OKBR was *in Olympia*, many miles away.

Finally, on top of not recalling the alleged OKBR residency dates and other conditions with state records, J.S. could not recall many other basic facts that would show he was ever placed at OKBR. CP 145-56. J.S. could not recall (1) what OKBR looked like because he "was in over 100 placements

growing up;" (2) the names of any OKBR employees; (3) whether any staff lived at OKBR; (4) his roommate's name, or whether he had more than one roommate; or (5) whether he was in school while allegedly at OKBR. CP 145-56.

Simply put, J.S. lacked personal knowledge to testify that he was placed at OKBR and deferred to state records that never showed him being placed there.

- F. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED
  - (1) <u>Division II's Published Opinion Upends the Normal</u> <u>Principles on Summary Judgment</u>

Summary judgment avoids useless trials, trims away unsound claims, and prevents the waste of limited judicial resources. *See Hudesman v. Foley*, 73 Wn.2d 880, 886, 441 P.2d 532 (1968). Summary judgment should be granted when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c). A defendant may move for summary judgment by pointing out that the plaintiff lacks sufficient evidence to support their case. *Guile v. Ballard*  *Cmty. Hosp.*, 70 Wn. App. 18, 21, 851 P.2d 689, *review denied*, 122 Wn.2d 1010 (1993); *see also*, *Young v. Key Pharm., Inc.*, 112 Wn.2d 216, 225, 770 P.2d 182 (1989).

On summary judgment, J.S. as the non-moving party had to set forth specific facts, by admissible evidence, showing the existence of a genuine question of material fact. *Guile*, 70 Wn. App. at 25-26; *see also, Kahn v. Salerno*, 90 Wn. App. 110, 117, 951 P.2d 321, *review denied*, 136 Wn.2d 1016 (1998); CR 56(e) (nonmoving party must produce evidence and "may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of a pleading").

"A nonmoving party in a summary judgment may not rely on speculation, argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain, or in having its affidavits considered at face value." *Martin v. Gonzaga Univ.*, 191 Wn.2d 712, 722, 425 P.3d 837 (2018) (quotation omitted); *W. Rivers Conservancy v. Stevens County*, 18 Wn. App. 2d 84, 92, 490 P.3d 249 (2021), *review denied*, 198 Wn.2d 1023 (2021) ("After a moving party submits sufficient evidence to justify summary judgment, relief cannot be denied on the basis of speculation or argumentative assertions.").

Likewise, purely conclusory allegations with no concrete, relevant particulars, will not bar summary judgment. Ruffer v. St. Frances Cabrini Hosp., 56 Wn. App. 625, 628, 784 P.2d 1288, review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1023 (1990) ("the party opposing summary judgment must respond with more than conclusory allegations, speculative statements, or argumentative assertions of the existence of unresolved factual issues"); Farias, 22 Wn. App. 2d at 493 ("Affidavits containing conclusory statements without adequate factual support are insufficient to defeat a motion for summary judgment."); Fievez v. Dep't of Corr., 25 Wn. App. 2d 1055, 2023 WL 2368008 (unpublished), \*8, review denied, 1 Wn.3d 1020 (2023) ("[A] speculative theory" cannot defeat summary judgment).

This case involves the more basic threshold question: did these parties ever even interact? Was there a duty even owed that could be breached? *Mathieu*, 23 Wn. App. 2d at 787 (existence and scope of duty is a legal "threshold" question).

J.S. sued Kiwanis arguing that they did interact, thereby creating a duty of care, and *expressly* left it to DSHS records to confirm his recollection from when he was a foster child over 30 years ago. DSHS records *contradicted* his account, and he failed to show the personal knowledge necessary to create a genuine issue of fact that the abuse he recalls suffering occurred at OKBR. CR 56(e); ER 602. He could not recall basic dates, facts, or anything else beyond his speculation that his abuse occurred at a facility in Olympia, some 90 miles and several counties away from where he was predominantly placed during the 1980s when he recalls the abuse occurring. Under these circumstances, the trial court properly granted summary judgment.

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