FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/17/2024 1:36 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1031807

## THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

J.S., an individual;

Respondent,

VS.

OLYMPIA KIWANIS BOYS RANCH, et al.,

**Petitioners** 

# RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darrell L. Cochran, WSBA No. 22851 Christopher E. Love, WSBA No. 42832 Kevin M. Hastings, WSBA No. 42316 Bridget T. Grotz, WSBA No. 54520

909 A Street, Suite 700 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 777-0799



## **Contents**

I.	Identity of Respondent	1
II.	Court of Appeals Opinion	1
III.	Restatement of Issues	4
IV.	Introduction	4
V. Belo	Restatement of the Case and Arguments

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

### VI. Argument

A. As Petitioners conceded, the Court of Appeals' opinion applying "well-established" summary judgment standards to the evidentiary record was "fully in line with prior appellate precedent"

As a threshold matter, the Court of Appeals properly refused to determine for the first time on appeal whether J.S.'s testimony was inadmissible for lack of personal

knowledge. RAP 9.12 limits review of summary judgment orders to "consider[ation] only of evidence and issues called to the attention of the trial court."

This limited role on review includes evidentiary objections. Lack of personal knowledge is an evidentiary objection to the admissibility of a witness's testimony that must be raised before the trial court. Accord Unifund CCR Partners v. Sunde, 163 Wn. App. 473, 483 n .1, 260 P.3d 915 (2011) (party failed to preserve argument that affidavits were inadmissible due to lack of personal knowledge by failing to object or move to strike on that Parties must object and move to strike basis below). arguably improper evidence before the trial court on summary judgment. See Lamon v. McDonnell Douglas Corp., 91 Wn.2d 345, 352, 588 P.2d 1346 (1979) (failure to make a motion to strike affidavit in opposition to summary judgment waives any claim of deficiency).

Conversely, where evidence "was considered by the trial court" on summary judgment, and "the trial court made no ruling on the admissibility of this evidence to which any error has been assigned, the evidence constitutes part of the record before the trial court in ruling on the motion and is, consequently, properly before [an appellate] court." *Jacob's Meadow Owners Ass'n v. Plateau 44 II, LLC*, 139 Wn. App. 743, 756, 162 P.3d 1153 (2007)

The Court of Appeals properly observed that it could not consider issues not called to the trial court's attention. Petitioners conceded to the trial court that J.S.'s testimony was admissible rather than moving to strike or object to it based on lack of personal knowledge. And the trial court's summary judgment order stated that it considered all documents J.S. submitted in opposing summary judgment,

including his deposition testimony. Accordingly, the Court of Appeals properly considered his testimony on review.<sup>6</sup>

J.S.'s testimony regarding his own experience of living and residing at OKBR was sufficient to demonstrate personal knowledge of those facts. Indeed, "it is difficult . . . to imagine a scenario where additional information would be required to lay a proper evidentiary foundation for testimony based on one's lived experience and direct perceptions of their own residence." *State v. Broussard*, 25 Wn. App. 2d 781, 789, 525 P.3d 615 (2023).

As the Court of Appeals correctly observed, Petitioners' arguments regarding J.S.'s lack of certainty regarding *when* he resided at OKBR or inability to recall other details do not demonstrate that J.S.'s testimony was inadmissible speculation. Rather, his "degree of certainty . . . affects only the weight of his testimony and not its admissibility." *Broussard*, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 789. As the Court of Appeals correctly held, such factual questions are for determination by a fact finder, not a court. *G.M.*, 548 P.3d at 552.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Even had Petitioners preserved their objection, personal knowledge means "facts [that a witness] has personally observed." *State v. Vaughn*, 101 Wn.2d 604, 611, 682 P.2d 878 (1984). Testimony should not be excluded for lack of personal knowledge unless "if, as a matter of law, no trier of fact could reasonably find that the witness had firsthand knowledge." *Vaughn*, 101 Wn.2d at 611.

The only issue for review, then, is whether the Court of Appeals adhered to well-established Washington summary judgment precedent in holding that J.S.'s sworn, admissible testimony that he resided at OKBR created a question of material fact regarding whether Petitioners owed him a legal duty.<sup>7</sup>

It did. Our summary judgment standards are more than the product of a court rule. They are constitutionally required:

Our summary judgment standard precludes resolution of issues of material fact because our constitution protects the right to have factual issues decided by a jury. Specifically, article I, section 21 of our state constitution holds sacred the right to trial by jury, which "guarantees litigants the right to have a jury resolve questions of disputed material facts." [Davis v. Cox, 183 Wn.2d 269, 289, 351 P.3d 862 (2015), abrogated on other grounds by Maytown Sand & Gravel, LLC v.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Loss v. DeBord, 67 Wn.2d 318, 321, 407 P.2d 421 (1965) is inapposite because Petitioners concede it involved testimony insufficient to create a question of fact due to lack of personal knowledge. PFR at 9-10.

Thurston County, 191 Wn.2d 392, 423 P.3d 223 (2018)]. This right is fundamental in our judicial system. As our Supreme Court has explained, adjudication by the trial court on the merits of nonfrivolous factual issues invades the role of the jury and violates the right to a jury trial. *Davis*, 183 Wn.2d at 294, 351 P.3d 862.

Haley v. Amazon Services, LLC, 25 Wn. App. 2d 207, 218, 522 P.3d 80 (2022).

Accordingly, summary judgment's "purpose is not to cut litigants off from their right of trial by jury if they really have evidence which they will offer on a trial, it is to carefully test this out, in advance of trial by inquiring and determining whether such evidence exists." *Preston v. Duncan*, 55 Wn.2d 678, 681, 349 P.2d 605 (1960). "Because the purpose of summary judgment is to determine whether evidence exists..., the trial court *must* consider all admissible evidence presented to it." *Haley*, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 220 (emphasis added).

Additionally, "[t]he function of a summary judgment proceeding . . . is to determine whether or not a genuine issue of fact exists, not to determine issues of fact." State ex rel. Zempel v. Twitchell, 59 Wn.2d 419, 425, 367 P.2d 985 (1962). Trial courts also must not "weigh the evidence, assess credibility, consider the likelihood that the evidence will prove true, or otherwise resolve issues of material fact." Id. at 217 (citing Davis, 183 Wn.2d at 290; Duckworth v. City of Bonney Lake, 91 Wn.2d 19, 21-22, 586 P.2d 860 (1978), abrogated on other grounds by Yim v. City of Seattle, 194 Wn.2d 682, 451 P.3d 694 (2019)); see also Federal Way Sch. Dist. No. 210 v. State, 167 Wn.2d 514, 523, 219 P.3d 941 (2009); Barker v. Advanced Silicon Materials, LLC, 131 Wn. App. 616, 624, 128 P.3d 633 (2006)). "Rather than weighing the evidence, the court must view all facts and reasonable inferences therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party." *Haley*, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 217.

"The corollary of this rule is that 'on summary judgment a nonmoving party's" testimony "'must be taken as *true*." *Id.* at 224 (emphasis added) (quoting *Mackey v.* Home Depot USA, Inc., 12 Wn. App. 2d 557, 575, 459 P.3d 371, review denied, 195 Wn.2d 1031 (2020)). A court may not disregard a party's sworn testimony "simply because it believes the testimony to be 'self-serving,'" in conflict with other types of evidence, or uncorroborated by other evidence. *Haley*, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 224. A plaintiff is "not required to corroborate his testimony or prove himself credible" in order to defeat a summary judgment motion. Their sworn testimony, standing alone, is *ld.* at 223. enough to create a question of fact precluding summary judgment. *Id.* at 216-17.

For example, in *Haley*, the plaintiff's sworn declaration describing communications regarding his repudiation of the agreement at issue created a question of fact despite the absence of corroborating documentary

evidence. *Id.* at 213-14; see also Reagan, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 806-07 (plaintiff's "self-serving" sworn deposition testimony regarding conduct of medical examiner sufficient to create inference and question of fact regarding medical battery claim); *Mackey*, 12 Wn. App. at 574-77 (plaintiff's sworn testimony about her previous complaints about workplace discrimination close in time to her termination "must be taken as true" and creatde questions of fact regarding retaliatory discharge claim even where "self-serving," "unsubstantiated," and uncorroborated).

Tellingly, Petitioners ignore these opinions, do not contend they conflict with other precedent, and conceded that the Court of Appeals' opinion was "fully in line" with Washington summary judgment precedent. Their concession was appropriate because the opinions on which Petitioners rely are not to the contrary. They "rest[] on the distinction between ultimate facts" such as "due diligence" and "reasonableness" and the "predicate facts"

necessary to support such conclusions. *Haley*, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 227, 229. And they stand for the unremarkable proposition that a plaintiff's sworn statements create a question of fact by making argumentative, speculative, or conclusory assertions of the legal elements or "ultimate facts" of a claim or defense devoid of the "predicate facts that, if true, would establish the ultimate fact." Id. at 234; accord Grimwood v. Univ. of Puget Sound, Inc., 110 Wn.2d 355, 359, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) (evidence of "facts" sufficient to preclude summary judgment are statements of "an event, an occurrence, or that which took place"; speculation, opinion, ultimate facts, or conclusory statements are insufficient); see also Martin v. Gonzaga *Univ.*, 191 Wn.2d 712, 715-16, 727, 425 P.3d 837 (2018) (plaintiff's conclusory, argumentative declaration regarding employer's motivation for terminating him insufficient to create question of fact regarding retaliatory discharge); Becker v. Washington State Univ., 165 Wn. App. 235, 255-

56, 266 P.3d 893 (2011) (plaintiff's argumentative, conclusory assertion that notice was not "clear" insufficient to create question of fact regarding procedural due process); Suarez v. Newquist, 70 Wn. App. 827, 832, 855 P.2d 1200 (1993) (plaintiff's mere "allegations" as opposed to admissible evidence that police officer arrested her husband outside her presence insufficient to create question of fact regarding wrongful arrest); Deschamps v. Mason Cnty. Sheriff's Office, 123 Wn. App. 551, 561, 96 P.3d 413 (2004) (plaintiff's "bare assertions" of "bad faith" and conclusory allegations of statutory violations "instead of proffering evidence" of predicate facts supporting those conclusions failed to create a question of fact).

Similarly, *Wold v. Jones*, 60 Wn.2d 327, 330, 373 P.2d 805 (1962) (internal quotation omitted) (emphasis added), held that more than a "scintilla of evidence" is required in the context of observing that there must be "substantial evidence adduced at the trial which is *legally*"

sufficient to support a jury verdict in favor of the party opposing a motion for directed verdict." There, in a negligent driving case, the appellant admitted that his testimony regarding the location of the vehicles at issue before the collision was based on his observations of his car after the collision and his testimony was "directly contradicted by three witnesses and by physical evidence." In other words, because his conclusory, speculative testimony that he had not crossed the road center line before the collision was not supported by his own personal observations at the relevant time or any other evidence, it was legally insufficient to create a question of fact. Id.

Here, J.S.'s testimony did not assert conclusory, ultimate facts or legal elements of his claims, such as "Petitioners were negligent." Rather, his testimony asserted underlying, predicate facts within his personal experience regarding "an occurrence" and "that which took place" necessary to prove his claims—that resided at

OKBR, who placed him there and how, and the sexual abuse he suffered there.

As *Haley*, *Mackey*, and *Regan* held, such testimony alone is sufficient to create a question of fact. *Haley*, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 216-17; *Mackey*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 575; *Regan*, 7 Wn. App. 2d at 806. And as *Haley*—and the litany of precedent *Haley* cited—held, it was a jury's constitutionally protected task to weigh his testimony against the documentary evidence, resolve any conflicts, determine what inferences to make, and determine evidence's credibility. *Haley*, 25 Wn. App. 2d at 217.

As Petitioners admitted to the Court of Appeals, its application of these standards was "fully in line" with Washington summary judgment precedent. Review is unwarranted.

/////

# B. The Court of Appeals' Application of "Well-Established" Summary Judgment Standards to an Evidentiary Record is Not an Issue of Substantial Public Importance

Petitioners further argue that the Court of Appeals' opinion adopted a new "uncertainty" summary judgment standard and J.S. moved for its publication because it "establishes new principles of law," creating an issue of substantial public importance warranting review. PFR 5, 22. None of these misrepresentations are well-taken.

Contrary to Petitioners' misrepresentations, "[a]ny doubts as to the existence of a genuine issue of material fact is resolved *against the moving party*." *Atherton Condo.*, 115 Wn.2d at 516. And the Court of Appeals held that the record "raises the reasonable inference that [J.S.] *did* in fact reside at OKBR." *G.M.*, 548 P.3d at 552.

Application of these well-established summary judgment standards was not novel. Indeed, J.S. moved to publish because the opinion clarified established principles

of law. RA 16. Petitioners conceded to the Court of Appeals that is all its opinion did. RA 3-4.

Similarly, Petitioners conflate a "decision . . . of *general* public interest or importance" warranting *publication* with issues of "*substantial* public interest" requiring this Court's *review*. RAP 12.3(e)(5); RAP 13.4(b)(4) (emphasis added); *State v. George*, 160 Wn.2d 727, 735, 158 P.3d 1169 (2007) (court rules must be interpreted like statutes); *Densley v. Dep't of Ret. Sys.*, 162 Wn.2d 210, 219, 173 P.3d 885 (2007) (courts presume when statutes use different terms, they intend different meanings).

Providing both error correction and binding clarification of the application of established legal principles to a fact pattern troubling Division Two's trial courts was of general public interest and importance.

But now its trial courts have a published, binding opinion to follow in applying these existing standards to this

particular fact pattern that is "fully in line" with established precedent, as Petitioners conceded. An opinion from this Court going through the same exercise of applying those same standards—on which our appellate courts agree—to this case's record would resolve no conflicts in the law, address no novel issues, and add nothing to Washington precedent that isn't already there—particularly where the same result reached by the Court of Appeals is inevitable. No issues of substantial public importance exist. Review is unwarranted.

# VII. Conclusion

For these reasons, the Court should deny review.